IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,)
v.	S.CT. NO. 17-1715
TONY DOOLIN,)
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARIA RUHTENBERG Assistant Appellate Defender MRuhtenberg@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION.

Authorities

State v. Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380 (2005)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012)

Watkins v. Sowders, 449 U.S. 341, 352, 101 S. Ct. 654, 661 (1981)

Elizabeth Loftus, Eyewitness Testimony 9 (1979)

State v. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872, 886 (N.J. 2011)

Brandon L. Garrett, Convicting the Innocent: Where Criminal Prosecutions Go Wrong 8-9, 279 (2011)

Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 738 (2012)

J. Neuschatz et al., A Comprehensive Evaluation of Showups, Advances in Psychology and the Law 65 (2016)

United State v. Green, 704 F.3rd 298, 307 (4th Cir. 2013)

State v. Lawson, 291 P.2d 673, 707 (Or. 2012)

International Ass'n of Chiefs of Police, *Model Policy on Eyewitness Identification* 1 (September 2010)

Kenneth A. Deffenbacher et. al, Forgetting the Once-Seen Face: Estimating the Strength of an Eyewitness's Memory Representation, 14 Experimental Psychol.: Applied 139, 142 (2008)

A.D. Yarmey, et. al., Accuracy of Eyewitness Identification in Showups and Lineups, 20 Law & Hum. Behav. 459, 463-464, 466 (1996)

J. Wixted & G. Wells, The Relationship Between Eyewitness Confidence and Identification Accuracy: A New Synthesis, 18 Psychol. Sci. In the Pub. Int. 10, 14, 19-20, 51-52 (2017)

N. Steblay and J. Dysart, Repeated Eyewitness Identification Procedures With the Same Suspect, 5 J. of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition 287, 287-288 (2016)

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 9

Manson v. Braithwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 109, 116, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 2250 (1977)

State v. Mark, 286 N.W.2d 396, 403, 405 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Ripperger, 514 N.W.2d 740, 744 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 93 S. Ct. 375 (1972)

Nicholas A. Kahn-Fogel, Manson and Its Progeny: An Empirical Analysis of American Eyewitness Law, 3 Ala. C.R. & C.L.L. Rev. 175, 176 (2012)

Sarah Anne Mourer, Reforming Eyewitness Identification Procedures Under the Fourth Amendment, 3 Duke J. Const. L. & Pub. Pol'y 49, 60 (2008)

Suzannah B. Gambell, *The Need to Revisit the Neil v. Biggers Factors: Suppressing Unreliable Eyewitness Identifications*, 6 Wyo. L. Rev. 189, 192 (2006)

Comm. v. Johnson, 650 N.E.2d 1257, 1261 (Mass. 1995)

State v. Dubose, 699 N.W.2d 582, 593-941 (Wis. 2005)

People v. Adams, 423 N.E.2d 379, 384 (N.Y. 1981)

State v. Folkerts, 703 N.W.2d 761, 763-65 (Iowa 2005)

Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 301-302, 87 S. Ct. 1967, 1972-1973 (1967)

State v. Leclair, 385 A.2d 831, 833 (N.H. 1978)

United States v. Hill, 967 F.2d 226, 232 (6th Cir. 1992)

United States v. Rundell, 858 F.2d. 425, 426 (8th Cir. 1988)

United States v. Brown, 699 F.2d 585, 593-594 (2nd Cir. 1983)

State v. Dickson, 141 A.2d 410, 424 (Conn. 2016)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 292-93 (Iowa 2000), rev'd on other grounds by State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 906 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 400 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 886 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 768 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767, 743 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

II. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO REQUEST AN INSTRUCTION ON EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION.

Authorities

State v. Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380 (2005)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830, 837-38 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Allison, 576 N.W.2d 371, 374 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 379-80 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Kellogg, 542 N.W.2d 514, 516 (Iowa 1996)

III. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT OF CARRYING WEAPONS.

Authorities

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 579 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Keopasaeuth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 640 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Turner, 345 N.W.2d 553, 555-556 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 339 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa Code § 724.4(4)(i) (2015)

Iowa Code § 724.4(C) (2015)

Iowa Code § 724.4(C) (2017)

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.

Authorities

State v. Adney, 639 N.W.2d 246, 250 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001)

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655, 659 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Reeves, 670 N.W.2d 199, 202 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116, 133-134 (Iowa 2004)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal from conviction and sentence following a jury trial for intimidation with a dangerous weapon, assault while participating in a felony, and carrying weapons in Black Hawk County No. FECR208087.

Course of Proceedings: On September 29, 2015, the State charged the defendant, Tony Doolin, with intimidation with a dangerous weapon in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (2015), a class C felony under Count I; assault while participating in a felony in violation of Iowa Code section 708.3 (2015), a class D felony under Count II; and carrying weapons in violation of Iowa Code section 724.4 (2015), an aggravated misdemeanor under Count III. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-7). Doolin pled not guilty on October 16, 2015. (Written

Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty) (App. p. 8). The matter was tried to a jury beginning August 22, 2017. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 1, L. 1-25). On August 25, 2017, the jury found Doolin guilty as charged on all counts. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 72, L. 3-25; Order Following Verdict, 9/5/2017) (App. pp. 17-18). On October 3, 2017, Doolin filed a Motion for New Trial, alleging the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. (Motion for New Trial) (App. pp. 19-20). The Motion for New Trial was denied and the court sentenced Doolin to concurrent indeterminate terms of incarceration not to exceed 10 years on Count I, intimidation with a dangerous weapon; 5 years on Count II, assault while participating in a felony; and 2 years on Count III, carrying weapons. The prison term was order to be served consecutively to a federal sentence Doolin was serving. (Sentencing Order, 10/20/2017) (App. pp. 21-25). Doolin filed

¹ In this case there are two transcripts labeled "Day 1" but are not consecutively paginated. One of them includes pretrial discussions between counsel and the court and the other one contains the opening statements and testimony from witnesses. For purposes of this brief, references to "Day 1" transcript refers only to the transcript containing opening statements and testimony and does not in any case reference the pretrial discussions transcripts.

a Notice of Appeal on October 26, 2017. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 26).

Facts: On August 15, 2015, Waterloo Police Officer Ryan Muhlenbruch was dispatched to the Flirts Gentleman's Club at 1:17 a.m. on a report of a disorderly situation regarding someone with a gun. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 19, L. 19-23; p. 21, L. 8-22). When Officer Muhlenbruch arrived, a man, later identified as the defendant, Tony Doolin, caught the officer's eye as he walked through the parking lot. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 25, L. 2-13). Officer Muhlenbruch watched as Doolin ducked down and he heard a heavy object hit the ground. He drew his gun on Doolin and ordered him to stand up and come out to where he could see Doolin's hands. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 25, L. 2-25). Doolin complied, and he was handcuffed. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 27, L. 15-28, L. 18). Officer Muhlenbruch put Doolin in his squad car and looked underneath the vehicle and found a handgun. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 30, L. 17-23).

When questioned, Doolin informed the officer that another person, a black man with a white hoodie, had pulled a gun on

him in front of the bar so he pulled his out in self-defense. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 40, L. 6-25). Doolin admitted to possessing the gun and was able to produce his permit to carry a concealed weapon. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 42, L. 23 – p. 43, L. 2; p. 51, L. 13-18). According to Officer Muhlenbruch, Doolin smelled of alcohol, had slurred speech, and had bloodshot watery eyes. According to Muhlenbruch, these were signs of alcohol consumption. Doolin declined a preliminary breath test, but the officer concluded that Doolin was impaired. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 41, L. 1 - p. 44, L. 18).

Doolin was taken to the jail and booked on the weapons charge. Hours later, at approximately 4:30 a.m., Dalibar Brkovic was interviewed at the police station. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 61, L. 13 – p. 62, L. 10). At trial, Brkovic testified that he was at Flirts that night and is friends with one of the owners. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 5, L. 20-22). According to him, when he pulled into the parking lot, he stopped to let his passengers out and, at that time, a stranger got in his car and asked him for a ride. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 9, L. 9-15). This stranger offered him

\$100 for a ride, but he refused. The man then pulled out a gun, cocked it, and pointed it at his chest and told Brkovic he had no choice. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 9, L. 9 - p. 11, L. 22). At that point, other people engaged the gunman in conversation, and, as the police were pulling in the parking lot, the man got out and started running away. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 15, L. 2-5; p. 18, L. 8-11). Brkovic went into Flirts and stayed until closing Thereafter he went to eat breakfast with the owner and others after the club closed. Brkovic then went to the police station, where he talked with police officers. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 26, L. 2 - p. 27, L. 25). He was never offered a chance to identify the gunman prior to trial but did identify him at the (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 10, L. 3-13; p. 28, L. 1-23).

Brkovic's friend, Zuhdija Menkovic, who was also at Flirts that night, testified at the trial. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 40, L. 4-15). Menkovic was on the phone with Brkovic outside of the club and was giving him directions to the club. At that time, he noticed a group of people standing outside of the club and one of them had a gun. Menkovic saw Brkovic drive into the

parking lot when a man ran by him and get into Brkovic's car. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 43, L. 2-18). Menkovic walked up to the driver's side of Brkovic's car and saw that the man was pointing a gun at his friend. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 47, L. 1-19). He did get a good look at the gunman but was unable to identify him or remember what he was wearing. (Trial tr. p. 48, L. 9-15; p. 58, L. 10-22). The man ran away as the police arrived, and he did not see where he went. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 50, L. 13 – p. 51, L. 13). The police charged Doolin with assault with a dangerous weapon and assault while participating in a felony in addition to the carrying weapons charge.

Further relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION.

Preservation of Error and Standard of Review: Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel concern constitutional rights, and the standard of review is therefore de novo. State v.

Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998). Counsel's failure

to preserve error can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, and, therefore, the Iowa Supreme Court allows an exception to error preservation rules in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983); State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982). **Discussion:** In this case, the identification of the defendant was an in-court show-up style procedure that occurred 2 years after the crime. There was no pretrial identification. The victim was never able to give a description of the offender. At the time of the identification, the defendant was sitting at counsel table next to his lawyer. There is little wonder why the victim identified the defendant. Defense counsel did not object to this procedure. His failure to do so constituted ineffective

To prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show (1) trial counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). "Ineffective assistance under Strickland is deficient performance by counsel resulting

assistance of counsel.

in prejudice, with performance being measured against an 'objective standard of reasonableness,' 'under prevailing professional norms." State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008) (quoting Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380 (2005)).

Prejudice exists when counsel's failure to perform an essential duty undermines confidence in the outcome of the proceeding. State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012). This "does not mean a defendant must establish that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case. A defendant need only show that the probability of a different result is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 196 (Iowa 2008).

The victim in this case, Dalibar Brkovic, a resident of St. Louis, Missouri, traveled to Waterloo, Iowa, on August 15, 2015, to visit a strip club called Flirts. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 4, L. 7-25). Soon after he arrived at the club, but before he got out of his car, a person he had never seen before got into his car and told him to drive him away from the club. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 9, L. 9-15).

When he refused this stranger pulled a gun and told him he had no choice. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 11, L. 16-22). The man held the gun to him for approximately 20 seconds, and then the police began to arrive. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 15, L. 19-20). The man got out and ran behind the car, and Brkovic did not see where he went after that. He did not see the person being arrested later in the parking lot. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 35, L. 3-7). Brkovic went into the club and stayed until closing time. Thereafter he went to eat breakfast with friends at a Perkins Restaurant. Around 4:30 a.m., about 3 hours after the incident, Brkovic went to the police station to give a statement. He could not give a description of the man to police. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 25, L. 1 – p. 26, L. 8; p. 27, L. 17-25). The police, however, told him that the man had been arrested. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 25, L. 17-24). Brkovic was never shown a photo of the defendant, nor was he offered a line-up. The one and only time he identified the defendant as the man with the gun was more than 2 years later in the courtroom during the trial. At that time he insisted he could "positively" identify the defendant, just because he

remembered his face. (Trial tr. Day 2 p. 28, L. 1 – p. 29, L. 5). He never gave any kind of description of the assailant to anyone other than he was African-American. He gave no description of skin tone, length or style of hair, clothing or jewelry he was wearing, or any other identifying characteristics. (Minutes of Testimony) (Conf. App. pp. 4-27).

"[T]here is almost nothing more convincing [to a jury] than a live human being who takes the stand, points a finger at the defendant, and says 'That's the one!' " Watkins v. Sowders, 449 U.S. 341, 352, 101 S. Ct. 654, 661 (1981) (Brennan, J., dissenting) (quoting Elizabeth Loftus, Eyewitness Testimony 9 (1979)) (emphasis in original). "Nationwide, more than seventy-five percent of convictions overturned due to DNA evidence involved eyewitness misidentification." State v. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872, 886 (N.J. 2011) (citation omitted). "Thirty-six percent of the defendants convicted were misidentified by more than one eyewitness." Id. (citing Brandon L. Garrett, Convicting the Innocent: Where Criminal Prosecutions Go Wrong 8-9, 279 (2011)). Even outside the DNA exoneration context, scientific research "reveals a troubling lack of reliability in eyewitness identifications." <u>Id</u>. at 888. This is so despite the fact that "eyewitnesses generally act in good faith" and misidentifications are typically "not the result of malice." <u>Id</u>.

"The empirical evidence demonstrates that eyewitness misidentification is 'the single greatest cause of wrongful convictions in this country." Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 738 (2012) (Sotomayor, J., dissenting). "Study after study demonstrates that eyewitness recollections are highly susceptible to distortion by post-event information or social cues; that jurors routinely overestimate the accuracy of eyewitness identifications; that jurors place the greatest weight on eyewitness confidence in assessing identifications even though confidence is a poor gauge of accuracy; and that suggestiveness can stem from sources beyond police-orchestrated procedures." Id.

Moreover, show-ups consistently lead to more false identifications than lineups. J. Neuschatz et al., A

Comprehensive Evaluation of Showups, Advances in Psychology and the Law 65 (2016). A 2011 study of 161 DNA exonerations showed that 53 involved erroneous show-up identifications. Brandon L. Garrett, Convicting the Innocent: Where Criminal Prosecutions Go Wrong. 52 (2011). Many courts have recognized the scientific consensus concerning the unreliability of show-ups. See, e.g., United State v. Green, 704 F.3rd 298, 307 (4th Cir. 2013) (citing State v. Henderson, 27 A.3rd 872, 903 (N.J. 2011) (explaining that show-ups fail to provide a safeguard against poor memories and make it easier to make mistakes and noting that reliability in the identification quickly declines, with show-ups occurring only two hours after the encounter frequently led to misidentifications)); State v. Lawson, 291 P.2d 673, 707 (Or. 2012) ("[showups are widely regarded as inherently suggestive – and therefore less reliable that properly administered lineup identification"). Even law enforcement advise to avoid show-ups "whenever possible in preference for the use of a photo array or a lineup." International Ass'n of Chiefs of Police, Model Policy on Eyewitness Identification 1

(September 2010).

The research also shows that memory decay is irreversible; memories never improve." Henderson, 27 A.3rd at 907 (citing Kenneth A. Deffenbacher et. al, Forgetting the Once-Seen Face: Estimating the Strength of an Eyewitness's Memory Representation, 14 Experimental Psychol.: Applied 139, 142 (2008)). Additionally, studies show that the more time that passes, the greater the possibility that a witness' memory of the offender will weaken. Id. In one study that involved over 500 identifications, the witnesses were exposed to a crime suspect and then asked to identify the person in a photo show-up, either immediately, 30 minutes afterward, or two hours afterward. When the suspect was not the same person in the photo, 82% of those asked immediately after the encounter correctly rejected the photograph. After 30 minutes 56% rejected the photograph and 42% did so after 2 hours. Moreover, after two hours, 58% of the witnesses identified an innocent suspect in the show-up compared to 14% in the lineup. A.D. Yarmey, et. al., Accuracy of Eyewitness Identification in Showups and

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