IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1715

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

TONY EUGENE DOOLIN, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

DARREL MULLINS

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov

BRIAN WILLIAMS
Black Hawk County Attorney

BRAD WALZ Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Unlike a line-up or show-up engineered by police, a first-time, in-court identification occurs in the presence of counsel, a judge, and jury according to the rules of evidence. These and other protections afford a defendant ample due process protection. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue a state constitutional claim resting on an isolated, minority position.

Preservation of Error

Doolin may assert ineffective assistance of counsel for the first time on appeal. *State v. Bearse*, 748 N.W.2d 211, 214 (Iowa 2008); *State v. Horness*, 600 N.W.2d 294, 297 (Iowa 1999). Usually the matter must be addressed in postconviction relief. *State v. Bennett*, 503 N.W.2d 42, 47 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993). There, the court can consider a better-developed set of facts. *Id.* The allegedly ineffective attorney can explain his or her conduct. *State v. Coil*, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978). "Even a lawyer is entitled to his day in court, especially when his professional reputation is impugned." *Id.*

The stakes for defense counsel are significant. A finding of ineffective assistance of counsel opens the door to a malpractice claim. Iowa Code §§ 814.11, 815.10(6); *Barker v. Capotosto*, 875 N.W.2d 157, 161, 167-68 (Iowa 2016); *Trobaugh v. Sondag*, 668 N.W.2d 577, 582-83 (Iowa 2003).

The Court will consider the issue only where the record is sufficient to answer it. *State v. Casady*, 597 N.W.2d 801, 807 (Iowa 1999).

Standard of Review

The Court reviews ineffective assistance of counsel claims *de novo. State v. McKettrick*, 480 N.W.2d 52, 55 (Iowa 1992).

Merits

The victim identified Doolin for the first time at trial. Doolin faults counsel for not drawing on the law and literature of pre-trial, police-controlled eyewitness identifications. He believes counsel was ineffective for failing to object on state constitutional grounds, specifically Article I, section 9.

The arguments Doolin offers, however, have found little purchase anywhere. It is true that pre-trial eyewitness identifications have received withering criticism. And some states have discarded or modified the analysis described in *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) and *Manson v. Braithwaite*, 432 U.S. 98 (1977) for pre-trial eyewitness identifications. But, with rare exception, courts have treated in-court identifications differently. In short, the dominant view holds that a trial offers protections from irreparable

misidentification that a police-engineered engineered lineup or showup does not.

Doolin has not proven ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Principles of ineffective assistance of counsel do not require counsel to assert plausible, yet weak legal claims.

The United States and Iowa constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10.1 To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that: (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted therefrom. Wemark v. State, 602 N.W.2d 810, 814 (Iowa 1999) citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984); Ledezma v. State, 626

¹ Doolin neither cites nor distinguishes between the rights to counsel under the federal and state constitutions. By dint of the general claim of ineffective assistance, the State must presume both provisions are at play. *State v. Halverson*, 857 N.W.2d 632, 634-35 (Iowa 2015); *King v. State*, 797 N.W.2d 565, 571 (Iowa 2011). But, the court should apply established principles in the absence of argument and authority that it should do otherwise. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3) (stating failure to cite authority in support of an issue may be deemed a waiver of that issue); *State v. Piper*, 663 N.W.2d 894, 913-14 (Iowa 2003) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550 (Iowa 2010) and declining to undertake party's research and advocacy).

N.W.2d 134, 141-42, 145 (Iowa 2001)². However, both elements do not always need to be addressed: if the claim lacks prejudice—as will often be the case—the case may be decided on that basis alone. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

There is a strong presumption that counsel performed within the "wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *Wemark*, 602 N.W.2d at 814. Tactical considerations, even if improvident, insulate the conviction from reversal on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Johnson*, 604 N.W.2d 669, 673 (Iowa Ct. App. 1999). Given the strong presumption of competence, if counsel's conduct "*might* be considered sound trial strategy," then it is deemed so. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 (quoting *Michel v. Louisiana*, 350 U.S. 91, 101 (1955) (emphasis added)).

² Iowa courts have stated both these elements require proof by a "preponderance of the evidence." *See, e.g., Halverson,* 857 N.W.2d at 635; *Ledezma,* 626 N.W.2d at 142. Federal courts, however, have indicated that this incorrect, at least with respect to proof of prejudice. *Paulson v. Newton Corr. Facility, Warden,* 703 F.3d 416, 420-21 (8th Cir. 2013); *Shelton v. Mapes,* U.S. D.Ct. No. 4:12-cv-00076-JAJ (filed Sept. 9, 30, 2014) *aff'd on appeal* 821 F.3d 921 (8th Cir. 2016). The standard is simply a reasonable probability of a different verdict sufficient to undermine confidence in the verdict.

A breach does not occur if counsel refrains from asserting a meritless issue. *State v. Lopez*, 872 N.W.2d 159, 169 (Iowa 2015); *State v. Hoskins*, 711 N.W.2d 720, 730-31 (Iowa 2006); *State v. Graves*, 668 N.W.2d 860, 881 (Iowa 2001). Counsel may have a duty to pursue an open question in Iowa law, if there is a body of authority suggesting the matter is "worth raising." *Millam v. State*, 745 N.W.2d 719, 722 (Iowa 2008). But, counsel is not expected to anticipate changes in the law. *State v. Williams*, 695 N.W.2d 23, 29-30 (Iowa 2005). "Counsel need not be a crystal gazer; it is not necessary to know what the law will become in the future to provide effective assistance of counsel." *State v. Liddell*, 672 N.W.2d 805, 814 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *Snethen v. State*, 308 N.W.2d 11, 16 (Iowa 1981)).

Nor must counsel assert an issue merely because it would not hurt. *See Knowles v. Mirzayance*, 129 S.Ct. 1411, 1419-20 (2009) ("This Court has never established anything akin to [a] 'nothing to lose' standard for evaluating *Strickland* claims."). And, the test is not whether some attorney somewhere would have tried the case differently. *State v. Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d 778, 786 (Iowa 2006). "There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a

particular client in the same way." *Caldwell v. State*, 494 N.W.2d 213, 215 (Iowa 1992). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693.

A defendant is not entitled to "perfect representation," just an attorney functioning within a normal range of competence. *State v. Artzer*, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000); *see also State v. Maxwell*, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008).

Courts "must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance...." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 698; *see also Maxwell*, 743 N.W.2d at 721; *Ledezma*, 626 N.W.2d at 142. "Miscalculated trial strategies and mere mistakes in judgment normally do not rise to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Ledezma*, 626 N.W.2d at 143.

As for the second element of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, "[t]he crux of the prejudice component rests on whether the defendant has shown 'that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at

694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.*; *cf. Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362, 391 (2000) ("there are situations in which the overriding focus on fundamental fairness may affect the analysis").

B. Existing precedent and controversy chiefly pertain to out-of-court identifications.

The federal and state constitutions provide a due process protection against a police-engineered impermissibly suggestive or unreliable pre-trial identification. U.S. Const. Amend. V, XIV; Iowa Const. Art. I, § 9; *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 565 U.S. 228, 248 (2012); *State v. Mark*, 286 N.W.2d 396, 403, 405 (Iowa 1979); *State v. Ripperger*, 514 N.W.2d 740, 744 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994).

The test for determining whether there has been a violation of due process is whether the identification procedure was "so unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification," considering the totality of circumstances, that it violated constitutional standards for due process. *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 301-02 (1967) (overruled on other grounds by *Griffith v. Kentucky*, 479 U.S. 314, 327 (1987)). "Short of this, the identification evidence and its shortcomings or credibility are for the jury to weigh." *State v. Neal*, 353 N.W.2d 83, 87 (Iowa 1984).

"Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony...." *Manson v. Braithwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977); *State v. Taft*, 506 N.W.2d 757, 762 (Iowa 1993). In considering claims of undue suggestiveness, courts apply a two-part analysis. *See*, *e.g.*, *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 198-99 (1972); *State v. Rawlings*, 402 N.W.2d 406, 407 (Iowa 1987).

First, the court considers whether an impermissibly suggestive out-of-court identification procedure was employed. *State v. Holderness*, 301 N.W.2d 733, 738 (Iowa 1981). Second, if the court so finds, it then determines whether under the totality of the circumstances the suggestive procedure gave rise to a "very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *Id.* Thus, "[t]he central question is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the identification was reliable despite any suggestive or inappropriate pretrial identification techniques." *Carter v. Hopkins*, 92 F.3d 666, 671 (8th Cir. 1996).

With respect to the reliability prong of the analysis, courts examine five relevant factors:

- (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime;
- (2) the witness' degree of attention;
- (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal;
- (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and
- (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.

Braithwaite, 432 U.S. at 114-15.

If the identification procedure is sufficiently reliable under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence should be left for the jury to weigh. *Braithwaite*, 432 U.S. at 116; *Mark*, 286 N.W.2d at 405, 407.

Doolin challenges the validity of eyewitness identification, in general. He draws on propositions that eyewitness testimony is especially forceful and overestimated in its value. *See* Appellant's Pr. Br. pp. 25, 26 (citing *Watkins v. Sowders*, 449 U.S. 341, 352 (1981) (Brennan, J., dissenting) and *Perry*, 132 S.Ct. at 738 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting). He relies on statistics which say 75% of wrongful convictions involve eyewitness testimony, 36% of which were

misidentified by more than one witness. *Id.* p. 24 (quoting *State v. Henderson*, 27 A.3d 872, 886 (N.J. 2011)). He identifies police "show-ups" as particularly untrustworthy. *Id.* p. 25-26 (citing *United States v. Green*, 704 F.3d 298, 307 (4th Cir. 2013) (relying on *Henderson* regarding the weaknesses of police show-ups) and *State v. Lawson*, 291 P.2d 673, 707 (Ore. 2012) (stating police "showups... less reliable than properly administered lineup identification")). He provides studies on the rate of memory fade and the poor correlation between accuracy and confidence in showups. *Id.* p. 27-28. Therefore, Doolin writes, some states have abandoned the *Braithwaite* "reliability" analysis. *Id.* p. 33.

In support of this latter proposition, Doolin cites five cases that address pre-trial eyewitness identifications. *Id.* (citing *Commonwealth v. Johnson*, 650 N.E.2d 1257, 1261, 1265 n.2 (Mass. 1995) (a divided court parting with *Braithwaite* and every state³ but one and prohibiting admission of a pre-trial identification through a "showup"); *State v. Dubose*, 699 N.W.2d 582, 593 (Wis. 2005) ("We conclude that evidence obtained from an out-of-court showup is inherently suggestive and will not be admissible unless, based on the

³ Including Iowa. *State v. Thornton*, 506 N.W.2d 777, 779-80 (Iowa 1993).

totality of circumstances, the procedure was necessary."); *People v. Adams*, 423 N.E.2d 379, 384 (N.Y. 1981) (excluding out of court showup identification, but affirming conviction where defendant was "properly identified at trial by five witnesses" two of whom did not attend the showup); *Henderson*, 27 A.3d at 879 (rejecting *Braithwaite* and developing multi-factored analysis of pretrial identifications); *Lawson*, 291 P.3d at 685-89, 698 (re-formulating rule of evidence for admitting identifications made in several pre-trial settings)).

This authority governs evaluation of pre-trial, out-of-court identifications, such as lineups and showups. "A primary aim of excluding identification evidence obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances, the [Braithwaite] Court said, is to deter law enforcement use of improper lineups, showups, and photo arrays in the first place." Perry, 132 S.Ct. at 726. That aim is no longer in play when the only identification occurs in court. Id. Hence, Braithwaite does not apply to unprompted, out-of-court identifications. Id. at 725-26.

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